1991

# Maurine Stevenson v. First Colony Life Insurance Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### Jurisdiction

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal by virtue of the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(i) (1987). The subject matter, a claim for breach of a life insurance contract, is not one over which the Utah Court of Appeals has original appellate jurisdiction.

### Issues

The sole issue raised by the plaintiff's appeal is whether, in granting the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment, the trial court erred in awarding her damages of \$300,000.00 where her decedent had applied for \$500,000.00 worth of life insurance coverage.<sup>1</sup>

The standard for determining the propriety of summary judgment is the same at trial and appellate levels. Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In this case, the trial court ruled as a matter of law that certain language in a conditional receipt applied to limit the insurer's liability. Issues of law are reviewed under a "correction of error" standard, giving no deference to the trial

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial court also awarded prejudgment interest at ten percent (10%) and post-judgment interest at twelve percent (12%). The plaintiff does not dispute these interest figures.

court's ruling. Utah State Retirement Office v. Salt Lake County, 780 P.2d 813, 814-15 (Utah 1989); Camp v. Office of Recovery Servs., 779 P.2d 242, 244-45 (Utah App. 1989).

**Determinative constitutional provisions,  
statutes, ordinances and rules**

The Utah Insurance Code in effect in 1986 recognized that "conditional or binding receipts" may "conditionally grant life insurance coverage prior to physical delivery of the policy" and subjected these receipts to certain form filing requirements. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-422 (1953). However, the terms of any conditional coverage are determined by reference to the insurance contract itself and to caselaw rather than statutes.

**Statement of the case**

On July 7, 1986, LaMar Stevenson applied for \$500,000 worth of life insurance coverage with First Colony Life Insurance Company (First Colony). On October 16, 1986, he died in a tragic motor vehicle accident. At no time before his death did Mr. Stevenson receive any personal notification that his insurance application was declined or any refund of his insurance premium. In fact, his premium was not returned until several months after his death.

Nevertheless, when Mrs. Stevenson filed a claim for death benefits, First Colony denied coverage, insisting that her husband's insurance application had been rejected. She then filed

this action for breach of contract against First Colony, the insurance agent, and the insurance agency.<sup>2</sup>

Mrs. Stevenson and First Colony filed cross motions for summary judgment. The trial court granted Mrs. Stevenson's motion, finding that temporary insurance was created when Mr. Stevenson filed an application for life insurance with First Colony, completed a physical examination, and paid the full semiannual premium. The court concluded this temporary insurance was still in effect at the time of Mr. Stevenson's death because First Colony had not given adequate notice that his application was denied and had not timely returned his premium. (See Memorandum Decision of Jan. 2, 1990, Tab 1 of Addendum.)<sup>3</sup>

The court determined the plaintiff's damages to be \$300,000.00, an amount specified in small print on the conditional receipt form which had been attached as one of the last pages of Mr. Stevenson's insurance application forms. (See Memorandum Decision of March 6, 1990, Tab 3.) However, the first page of the application clearly stated in large handwriting that Mr. Stevenson was applying for coverage in the amount of \$500,000.00.

The order granting summary judgment was certified as final and

---

<sup>2</sup> Claims against the insurance agent and the insurance agency are not involved in this appeal.

<sup>3</sup> The court indicated that formal findings of fact and conclusions of law were unnecessary after summary judgment. (Memorandum Decision of Jan. 19, 1990, Tab 2.)

appealable, and both parties appealed. (See Order of April 30, 1990, Tab 4.)

### **Relevant facts**

As First Colony pointed out in a memorandum in support of its motion for summary judgment, the material facts in this case are not in dispute. (See Memorandum at 5, Tab 5.)

From approximately 1984 until 1986, LaMar Stevenson had term life insurance in the amount of \$1,000,000 with Chubb LifeAmerica. (Tab 6 at 36-37.) As the cost of his insurance rose, Mr. Stevenson found it increasingly difficult to pay the premiums. (Tab 7 at 32-33.) He mentioned the problem to his insurance and bonding agent, Roger Fleiss, who worked for the Talbert Corporation in Salt Lake City. (Tab 8 at 11.) Fleiss referred Mr. Stevenson to Norman Close, Talbert's Financial Services Life Representative in Denver. (Tab 8 at 11-18; Tab 6 at 30 & 40.) Talbert's Denver office supplied Mr. Stevenson with pricing information for different kinds of coverage. (Tab 8 at 11.) After a long discussion with Fleiss, Close recommended that Mr. Stevenson obtain life insurance from First Colony rather than Chubb LifeAmerica. (Tab 9; Tab 7 at 32-36, 41-42 & 66.)

Mr. Stevenson filed an application with First Colony and completed the necessary physical examination. (Tab 10.) At first, he wanted to continue his coverage of \$1,000,000 but decided it was more than he could afford. (See Tab 11.) At Mr. Stevenson's



request, an employee in Talbert's Denver office crossed out the \$1,000,000 figure on the first page of his application and wrote "\$500,000" as the amount of coverage. (Tab 8 at 39 & 104; Tab 10.) The semiannual premium was then calculated to be \$410.00 for \$500,000.00 worth of coverage. (Tab 10.)

About July 7, 1986, Mr. Stevenson gave First Colony a check for \$410.00 as his first premium. (Tab 12.) He received a letter thanking him for "the First Colony Life Insurance application for \$500,000 of coverage" and requesting that he complete an aviation questionnaire as well. (Tab 13.) He completed and returned the questionnaire. (Tab 14.)

On July 21, 1986, Talbert's Denver office sent Mr. Stevenson a "conditional receipt." (Tab 10 at 9.) He was told only that "this is your receipt for application for life insurance policy"; no one explained the terms of the receipt to him. (Tab 15; Tab 8 at 45.) First Colony cashed Mr. Stevenson's check on July 25, 1986.

Several weeks later when Mrs. Stevenson called Talbert's Salt Lake office to ask why her husband had not yet received a policy from First Colony, she was told that First Colony intended to decline coverage because Mr. Stevenson's business had filed a petition in bankruptcy. (Tab 7 at 45-47.) However, First Colony proposed alternative "Life One" plans for Mr. Stevenson, and information about the plans was forwarded to Fleiss with a cover letter dated August 28, 1986. (Tab 16.)

Mr. Stevenson discussed various insurance options with the insurance agents, but it is important to note that neither First Colony nor the agents ever contacted Mr. Stevenson personally to inform him that coverage was in fact denied. Furthermore, First Colony kept his life insurance premium.

If First Colony decided to reject his application, Mr. Stevenson wanted his premium returned so he could purchase other life insurance. (Tab 7 at 50-51, 89-91; Tab 6 at 63.) He asked Fleiss about the premium, and Fleiss called Close. (Tab 8 at 101.) When First Colony failed to return the premium in a timely fashion, Talbert's Denver office contacted the underwriter repeatedly over a four-month period, from August through December, in an effort to get the premium refunded. (Tab 6 at 55 & 62.)

Meanwhile, Mr. Stevenson was killed in a motor vehicle accident on October 16, 1986.

First Colony denied Mrs. Stevenson's claim for death benefits. In December, nearly two months after her husband's death, she received a refund of the life insurance premium he had paid in July. (Tab 17.)

#### **Summary of the argument**

The trial court should have awarded the full \$500,000 of life insurance coverage to Mrs. Stevenson. After paying the full semiannual premium for \$500,000 worth of coverage, Mr. Stevenson had a reasonable expectation that he was insured to that extent

until First Colony actually rejected his application, communicated that rejection to him by appropriate notice and returned his premium. The limitation in the conditional receipt was not clear enough to be binding and was never pointed out to Mr. Stevenson.

The conditional receipt was part of Mr. Stevenson's insurance application, and the rest of his application should not be ignored in construing the terms of temporary coverage. Since the amount of temporary coverage is ambiguous, the amount written on the first page of the application governs because a handwritten provision prevails over a printed one and ambiguities in an insurance contract should be resolved in favor of the insured.

In any event, First Colony should be estopped from denying or limiting its liability in view of its inexcusably long and prejudicial delay in refunding Mr. Stevenson's insurance premium.

1.

Mr. Stevenson had a reasonable expectation of full and immediate life insurance coverage unless and until First Colony actually rejected his application, communicated that rejection to him by appropriate notice, and returned his premium.

As the Utah Supreme Court has stated, "it is unfair for an insurer to collect a premium which purports to cover a period when in fact no such coverage exists: i.e., between the time of the application and the delivery of the policy." Williams v. First Colony Life Ins. Co., 593 P.2d 534, 537 (Utah 1979). Thus, when an

applicant for insurance has done everything required of him and paid his premium, his insurance coverage generally takes effect from the time of the issuance of a binding or conditional receipt, even though the policy has not been delivered. Id.; Aho v. United Transp. Union Ins., 571 P.2d 1329, 1332 (Utah 1977) (Justice Crockett, concurring.)

Because it was clear that Mr. Stevenson had done everything required of him and had paid his premium<sup>4</sup>, the trial court concluded he had temporary insurance coverage. However, the trial court erroneously relied on a limitation in small print on the conditional receipt to set damages at only \$300,000. In doing so, the court failed to apply the "doctrine of reasonable expectations," one of the reasons for finding there was temporary insurance in the first place. See e.g., Miller v. Republic Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 714 F.2d 958, 959 (9th Cir. 1983) (applicant for life insurance who pays the first premium, receives a receipt, and submits to the insurer's medical examination has a "reasonable expectation" of coverage from the date of receipt).

First Colony admits that temporary insurance coverage was

---

<sup>4</sup> Cf., Aho v. United Transp. Union Ins., 571 P.2d 1329 (Utah 1977) (holding there was no temporary life insurance coverage where applicant had not made required premium payment) and Wade v. Utah Farm Bureau Ins. Co., 700 P.2d 1093 (Utah 1985); Jacobson v. Kansas City Life Ins. Co., 652 P.2d 909 (Utah 1982); and Fabrizio v. Fidelity & Guaranty Ins. Co., 27 Utah 2d 248, 494 P.2d 953 (1972) (all holding there was no temporary life insurance coverage where applicant had not completed required physical examination).

created when Mr. Stevenson applied for life insurance, completed the necessary medical examination and paid his first premium. Despite the lack of notice to Mr. Stevenson that his insurance application was rejected, First Colony takes the position that his temporary coverage terminated prior to his death.

At most, the facts suggest that prior to his death Mr. Stevenson was uncertain about the status of his insurance application. First Colony was proposing alternate life insurance plans, had not sent any written notice of any declination to him, had not contacted him personally in any way, and had retained his insurance premium. In these circumstances, Mr. Stevenson continued to have a reasonable expectation of temporary insurance coverage.

Under the doctrine of reasonable expectations, the language of an insurance contract should be examined "from the viewpoint of the average purchaser of insurance who is not trained in law or in the insurance business." Wagner v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 786 P.2d 763, 764 (Utah App. 1990). The "objectively reasonable expectations of applicants and intended beneficiaries regarding the terms of insurance contracts will be honored even [if] painstaking study of the policy provisions would have negated those expectations." Bradley v. Mid-Century Ins. Co., 409 Mich. 1, 294 N.W.2d 141, 163 n. 69 (1980).

The Utah Supreme Court applied the doctrine of reasonable expectations to conclude that a life insurance applicant had temporary coverage in Prince v. Western Empire Life Ins. Co., 19

Utah 2d 174, 428 P.2d 163 (Utah 1967). The court wrote,

The understanding of an ordinary person is the standard which must be used in construing the contract, and such a person upon reading the application would believe that he would secure the benefit of immediate coverage by paying the premium in advance of delivery of the policy. There is an obvious advantage to the company in obtaining payment of the premium when the application is made, and it would be unconscionable to permit the company, after using language to induce payment of the premium at that time, to escape the obligation which an ordinary applicant would reasonably believe had been undertaken by the insurer.

428 P.2d at 168 (emphasis added), quoting Ransom v. The Penn Mutual Life Ins. Co., 43 Cal.2d 420, 274 P.2d 633, 636 (1954).<sup>5</sup>

The average purchaser of insurance "who is given a receipt for the first premium looks upon it as a receipt and is not bound to study it to discover conditions and limitations circumscribing its effectiveness." 12A J. Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice § 7243 at 249-51 (1981 & Supp. 1989). In this respect, a conditional receipt is "similar to a receipt given by a garage which purports to limit its liability for loss by fire or theft, or by a carrier

---

<sup>5</sup> In Prince the court noted without discussion that the insurer's liability was limited by a provision in a binding receipt. 428 P.2d at 169. The issue of the applicant's reasonable expectations as to the amount of temporary coverage apparently was not raised.

which attempts to restrict its tort liability." Id. at 251 n.5.

The doctrine of reasonable expectations should apply in determining the amount of coverage as well as the other terms of temporary coverage. In interpreting insurance binders, there is a growing trend toward fulfilling the layman insured's reasonable expectations of coverage. 2 Couch on Insurance 2d, § 14:36 at 71 (1984).

At the advice of his insurance agent, Mr. Stevenson stopped trying to keep his life insurance in the amount of \$1,000,000 in force. Instead, he applied for a new policy in the amount of \$1,000,000 with First Colony. Later, he requested that the amount of coverage (with its corresponding premium) be reduced to \$500,000. The semiannual premium for \$500,000 of coverage was calculated to be \$410. Mr. Stevenson paid the full semiannual premium and was given a conditional receipt. Whatever the language in small print on his receipt, at that time he had a reasonable expectation of immediate insurance coverage in the amount of \$500,000.

## 2.

The \$300,000 limitation was not clear enough to be binding, and no one called it to Mr. Stevenson's attention when he paid the semiannual premium for coverage in the amount of \$500,000.

Even in the context of temporary insurance coverage, "limitations on the amount of coverage must be clear to be

binding." Insurance Law and Practice § 7237 at 196. A limitation in a conditional receipt will not be given effect where "the limiting language was neither plain nor conspicuous and . . . was not discussed with [the decedent] when he applied for insurance." Thompson v. Occidental Life Ins. Co., 109 Cal.Rptr. 473, 9 Cal.3d 904, 513 P.2d 353, 364 (1973).

An insurer must not only use clear and unequivocal language evidencing an intent to limit temporary coverage but must also "call such limiting conditions to the attention of the applicant." State Compensation Ins. v. Wangerin, 736 P.2d 1246, 1248 (Colo. App. 1986); also see Leland v. Travelers Indem. Co., 712 P.2d 1060 (Colo. App. 1985). "Absent proof of such disclosure, coverage will be deemed to be that which is expected by the ordinary layperson, namely complete and immediate coverage upon payment of the premium." Sanchez v. Connecticut Gen. Life Ins. Co., 681 P.2d 974, 977 (Colo. App. 1984) (emphasis added).

Courts often impose on the insurer "the burden of showing that it had taken appropriate steps to inform the applicant for insurance of [limiting] conditions." Puritan Life Ins. Co. v. Guess, 598 P.2d 900, 906 (Alaska 1979). Also see, Keene Corp. v. Insurance Co. of No. America, 667 F.2d 1034 (D.C. Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 1007 (1982); Collister v. Nationwide Life Ins. Co., 479 Pa. 579, 388 A.2d 1346, 1355 (1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1089 (1979).

The reasons for requiring clear disclosure were explained in



Young v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 77 Cal.Rptr. 382, 272 Cal.App.2d 453 (1969). There, a conditional receipt unambiguously stated that the company's liability was limited to the receipt's terms until the policy was delivered. The trial court entered judgment for the insurer, but the court of appeals reversed, holding that the insurer may nevertheless be liable to the full extent of coverage under the application if there is no evidence that a limitation in the conditional receipt was called to the applicant's attention.<sup>6</sup> The court of appeals wrote,

[T]he insurer, as the dominant and expert party in the field, must not only draft such contracts in unambiguous terms but must bring to the attention of the insured all provisions and conditions which create exceptions or limitations on the coverage [citation omitted]. Manifestly, it should have even a greater duty to call attention to such provisions or conditions when they are contained in receipts given to an applicant after he has paid the premium in advance, because the very acceptance of an advance premium by the carrier tends naturally toward an understanding of immediate coverage though it be temporary and terminable [citation omitted]. In short, to the ordinary layman, payment of the insurance premium constitutes payment for immediate protection, and it is

---

<sup>6</sup> On remand, the trial court found evidence that some of the receipt's provisions were called to the applicant's attention. See, Young v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 98 Cal.Rptr. 77, 20 Cal.App.3d 777 (1971).

unlikely that he would carefully read the fine print contained in a receipt unless he was given the incentive to do so by the carrier's agent.

77 Cal.Rptr. at 387.

In this case, the \$300,000 limitation was neither plain nor conspicuous. Furthermore, there was no evidence that it was ever called to Mr. Stevenson's attention or that he read it when he paid the full semiannual premium for \$500,000 worth of coverage. Absent proof of such disclosure, coverage should be deemed to be the \$500,000 for which he applied.

3.

The application for insurance should not be disregarded in determining the terms of temporary coverage.

In setting Mrs. Stevenson's damages at \$300,000, the trial court explained, "Plaintiff's judgment is based on the conditional receipt, not the policy which was applied for; therefor[e] the limitation on the conditional receipt should apply." (Tab 3.) The court erred on this point. Mrs. Stevenson is not arguing that she should recover damages under a policy which was never delivered. Rather, she is arguing that the terms of her husband's temporary coverage must be determined by reference to his insurance application as well as his conditional receipt.

"It is agreed that the binding receipt and the application for insurance are to be considered and construed together." 43

Am.Jur.2d Insurance, § 222 (1982 & Supp. 1990). "A binding receipt and the application for insurance are to be considered and construed together and there is no reason why this rule should not apply to a conditional premium receipt." Machinery Center, Inc. v. Anchor Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 434 F.2d 1, 4 (10th Cir. 1970) (applying Utah law); also see, Liberty Nat'l Life Ins. Co. v. Patterson, 278 Ala. 43, 175 So.2d 737 (1965).

The conditional receipt was part of Mr. Stevenson's insurance application form. It was given to him in exchange for his completed insurance application and premium payment. There is a statement on the first page of the application that "the entire contract will consist of this application and the policy issued in response to it." (Tab 10 at 1, emphasis added.)

The rest of the application should not be ignored in construing the terms of the conditional receipt, especially where Mr. Stevenson was told only that it was a "receipt for his application." (See, Tab 15.)

#### 4.

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