1991

Maurine Stevenson v. First Colony Life Insurance Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Utah law, the issuance of a conditional receipt by a life insurance company after tender of an applicant's initial premium and policy application creates a contract of temporary or interim insurance which is subject to the right of the insurer to terminate the agreement. All that is necessary for the termination of such an agreement is rejection of the application by the insurance company and notice of that rejection to the applicant during his lifetime. The majority of jurisdictions which have considered the question are in agreement with this rule of law.

Under this rule of law, it is clear that First Colony Life Insurance Company effectively terminated its temporary insurance contract with LaMar Stevenson when it rejected his application and provided notice of that rejection over one month prior to his death. There is no factual issue before this court. The record clearly establishes that Mr. Stevenson's application was rejected and that he received notice of that rejection.

The conclusion of the trial court below that a temporary contract of insurance cannot be terminated unless the initial premium is returned and written notice of rejection of the application is conveyed to the applicant is inconsistent with Utah law. This court has aligned itself with the view that rejection of the application and notice thereof are sufficient to cancel a temporary contract of life insurance.

None of the authorities relied upon by the trial court has ever concluded that written notice is required and it is clear that the trial court's conclusion that the notice in this case was inadequate is erroneous.

Because there existed no valid contract of insurance at the time of LaMar Stevenson's death, this court need not consider the question of whether the amount of coverage created by the conditional receipt was \$300,000 or \$250,000. Alternatively, there is evidence in the record which clearly suggests that the amount of coverage created by the conditional receipt was \$250,000, and the trial court erred in concluding that the amount of coverage was

\$300,000, particularly where the defendants were not allowed sufficient time to do discovery on the question after the court allowed plaintiff to amend the complaint to increase her initial demand from \$250,000 to \$500,000.

Appellant Stevenson's repeated assertions that the language of the \$300,000 limitation in the conditional receipt is somehow unclear and ambiguous are contradicted by a reading of the language itself which clearly informs any applicant or average lay person not trained in insurance that the amount of temporary coverage cannot exceed \$300,000. The rule of strict construction urged by appellant is therefore inapplicable and the handwritten \$500,000 amount in the application does not prevail because no ambiguity results from considering it together with the language of the conditional receipt delivered to LaMar Stevenson.

The law does not require that the \$300,000 limitation of the conditional receipt be called to an applicant's attention; however, even if it did, the evidence indicates that prior to notice of the rejection of his application LaMar Stevenson was advised that First Colony would not bind coverage under the conditional receipt for more than \$250,000 and agreed to this limitation.

The Stevensons were not confused or prejudiced in any way by the delay in returning the premium. They knew LaMar had been declined by First Colony long before he applied to Bankers Life over a month later on October 1, 1986, two weeks before his death.

Moreover, the premium was not needed because Bankers Life would not issue a conditional receipt nor would it accept a premium until acceptance of the application and issuance of a policy, which never occurred.

ARGUMENT

I

FIRST COLONY LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY EFFECTIVELY TERMINATED THE TEMPORARY CONTRACT OF LIFE INSURANCE BY REJECTING THE INSURANCE APPLICATION AND COMMUNICATING NOTICE OF THE REJECTION TO LAMAR STEVENSON PRIOR TO HIS DEATH.

In Long v. United Benefit Life Insurance Company, Inc., 29 Utah 2d 204, 507 P.2d 375 (1973), this court considered at length the creation and termination of contracts for temporary life insurance coverage. There, Mr. Long applied for life insurance, made the first premium payment and was given a conditional receipt. Seventeen days later he died in an automobile accident. Three days after his death, the insurer, through its local agents, attempted to give notice to Mr. Long that the application had been rejected for "confidential reasons" and attempted to return the premium. Id. at 376. After considering the legal effect of the conditional receipt, this court adopted the view that the issuance of a conditional receipt by an insurance company after tender of an applicant's initial premium and policy application creates a "contract of temporary or interim insurance" subject to the right of the insurer to terminate the agreement. Id. at 377. This court then ruled that the conditional receipt

. . . created temporary insurance coverage until such time as the insurers had considered the application and determined to issue a policy or reject the risk. Thereafter, the insurer cannot terminate the risk so assumed unless the insured is notified during his lifetime that his application was rejected. The facts are undisputed that Mr. Long did not receive notice of the company's rejection; and, therefore, the company is liable to the beneficiary, Mrs. Long.

Id. at 379. From this court's ruling in Long, it is clear that as a matter of Utah law, an insurer terminates its obligations under a temporary life insurance contract by rejection of the application and notice of the rejection to the applicant during his lifetime.

In the earlier case of Winger v. Gem State Mutual of Utah, 22 Utah 2d 132, 449 P.2d 982 (1969), this court held that no contract of insurance existed in favor of the plaintiff where the insurer made its determination that he was not insurable and elected to decline his application, even though the local agent was unable to contact the insured to communicate the declination to him prior to his fatal injury two days later. Id. at 983.

The majority of other jurisdictions which have considered this question are in agreement with this rule of law that a temporary contract of insurance is terminated by rejection of the application and notice of the rejection to the insured. The Ohio Supreme Court, for example, has held that an "insurer may not be lawfully required to pay a loss against which it had specifically refused to insure or be held liable when it had definitely rejected the application for insurance and thereby refused to accept the

risk." Leube v. Prudential Insurance Co., 73 N.E.2d 76, 77 (Ohio 1947), cited in Quindlen v. Prudential Insurance Co. of Am., 482 F.2d 876, 880 (5th Cir. 1973). In Leube, the court upheld the trial court's directed verdict which was entered because the applicant had received notice of the rejection.

Even the California Supreme Court, in Smith v. Westland Life Insurance Co., 539 P.2d 433 (Cal. 1975), the case relied upon by Judge Harding in granting summary judgment to the plaintiff, conceded that "the most frequently stated rule appears to be that a temporary contract of insurance is terminated by rejection of the application and notice thereof to the insured." Id. at 439. Couch on Insurance likewise states: "The temporary contract is therefore effective until either superceded by a policy . . . or terminated by a rejection of the application, and notice thereof to the insured." 9 Couch on Insurance § 39:208, at 653 (2d Ed. 1985).

Applying the foregoing legal principle, it is clear that First Colony effectively terminated the temporary insurance contract in question by rejection of the application and providing notice thereof to Stevenson over one and one-half months before his accidental death on October 16, 1986. The material facts in this issue are not in dispute. By the first of September, 1986, LaMar Stevenson received notice of the rejection of his application. Mrs. Stevenson testified that Roger Fleiss called her and told her that First Colony had declined coverage on LaMar. Maurine Stevenson Deposition p. 46. R. 54. She also testified as follows:

Q: From the point that Roger Fleiss notified you or United Underwriters, whichever it was first, you understood that you didn't have coverage with First Colony Life; is that correct?

A: Probably.

Maurine Stevenson Deposition, p. 105, R. 157.

Later, on October 1, 1986, LaMar Stevenson signed and submitted an application for life insurance with Banker's Life Insurance Company on which he specifically acknowledged that he had been declined by First Colony due to the bankruptcy status of his business. See Exhibit 4 of the Addendum, R. 168. In short, the undisputed evidence from the record before this court indicates that in accordance with Utah law as established in Long, supra, First Colony effectively terminated its interim insurance contract with LaMar Stevenson by rejection of the application and notice of that rejection prior to his death.

A. Utah Law Does Not Require The Return Of An Applicant's Premium Payment As A Condition For The Termination Of A Temporary Contract Of Insurance.

In her summary judgment motion, plaintiff argued that an insurer cannot terminate a temporary insurance contract without returning the premium tendered with the application, relying on Smith v. Westland Life Insurance Company, 539 P.2d 433 (Cal. 1975), and Tripp v. Reliable Life Insurance Co., 499 P.2d 1155 (Kan. 1972). The trial court accepted this argument, and in his memorandum decision quoted, verbatim, the holding of Smith v. Westland. See Exhibit 1 of the Addendum. The Smith case is representative of

a line of authority adopted by a small minority of courts, which is contrary to the majority position adopted by this court in Long, supra. In addition, the Smith and Tripp cases are clearly distinguishable from this case and are based upon policy considerations which are inapplicable.

As stated above, the California Supreme Court concedes that "The most frequently stated rule appears to be that a temporary contract of insurance is terminated by rejection of the application and notice thereof to the insured." Smith, 539 P.2d at 439. This reference in the Smith case is followed by a lengthy citation of authorities including Service v. Pyramid Life Insurance Company, 440 P.2d 944 (Kan. 1968), which is quoted from with approval by this court in Long v. United Benefit Life Insurance Co., 507 P.2d at 377-379. Couch on Insurance agrees that "a temporary contract is therefore effective until either superceded by a policy . . . or terminated by a rejection of the application, and notice thereof to the insured." 9 Couch on Insurance § 39:207, at 653 (2d Ed. 1985). This rule terminating temporary insurance coverage simply by rejection of the application and receipt of notice also squares with the general principle of contract law that a party exercising the right to terminate a contract is not required to return consideration at the time of communicating the rescission. 12 Williston, Contracts (3rd Ed. 1970) p. 108 et seq.; 5 Corbin, Contracts (1960) p. 607 et seq.

In addition, both the Smith and Tripp cases are clearly distinguishable from this case. As a policy matter, both cases focused on eliminating the confusion or uncertainty which might be caused by retention of premiums by the insurance carrier. In Smith, the insurance company actually issued a policy which modified the coverages from the coverages applied for. Mr. Smith died within twenty-four hours of his last discussion with a company representative, who tried to persuade him to accept the modifications. He had been approached twice about the modifications and probably expected further contact.

In Tripp, the court did not adopt a general rule that return of premium is always necessary, but specifically confined its decision to "the facts disclosed in this record" 499 P.2d at 1159. Those facts revealed that the conditional receipt specifically stated that the insurance company would issue a policy or reject the application within sixty days. The insured died one hundred and four (104) days after submission of the application and it was undisputed that the insurer failed to comply with the provisions of its own conditional receipt, as it had taken no action to either reject the application or notify the insured.

Notwithstanding plaintiff's arguments to the contrary, First Colony's delay in returning Stevenson's premium did not cause confusion or uncertainty, which prompted the rulings in the Smith and Tripp cases. To say that First Colony did not communicate unequivocal notification of its decision requires the plaintiff to

ignore the record. As indicated above, the plaintiff admits having been expressly informed of First Colony's rejection of coverage during a conversation with Roger Fleiss in August of 1986. Plaintiff admitted she had no reasonable expectation of continued coverage under the temporary insurance contract. In such situations, where "the minds of the parties have met upon the point that there is an actual cancellation, or expressly understand that the policy is cancelled, formal tender of the premium is not a condition precedent to cancellation." 17 Couch on Insurance § 67:240, at 693 (2d Ed. 1983).

Furthermore, the fact that Stevenson was aware of the implications of First Colony's rejection of his application is clearly evidenced by his subsequent application for insurance with Banker's Life. Stevenson acknowledged on the Banker's Life Application that First Colony had rejected a previous application for insurance. R. 168, Exhibit 4 of the Addendum.

B. Utah Law Does Not Require Written Notice Of Rejection Of An Insurance Application As A Condition For Termination Of A Temporary Contract Of Insurance.

The trial court appears to have held that the notice of rejection of Mr. Stevenson's application was not adequate because it was not written. See Memorandum Decision, R. 296, Exhibit 1 of the Addendum. This holding appears to be based on an argument from Tripp v. Reliable Life Insurance Company, supra, that written notice is required; however, nowhere does the opinion in the Tripp case make any mention whatsoever of written notice or notification.

Plaintiff's opposition memorandum to the First Colony Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 187, attributes the following quote to the Tripp case:

Similarly, in Tripp v. Reliable Life Insurance Co., 210 Kan. 33, 499 P.2d 1155 (1972), the Supreme Court of Kansas held,

"where application for life insurance was made, and insurer received the initial premium and issued a receipt therefor, a policy of temporary insurance was created, and said policy continued in effect until the insurer declined application, sent written notification to the insured, and returned their premium, notwithstanding contrary provisions of application and receipt." Id. at p. 1159.

Record on Appeal, p. 187. (Emphasis added by plaintiff). The actual language of the opinion in the Tripp case is as follows:

We conclude under the facts disclosed in this record that when an application for life insurance is made and the company receives the initial premium and issues a receipt therefor, a policy of temporary insurance is created and said policy of temporary insurance continues in effect until the insurance company declines the application, notifies the insured, and returns the premium, notwithstanding the provisions of the application and the receipt to the contrary.

499 P.2d at 1159. (Emphasis added). Copies of the actual quote from plaintiff's memorandum and page 1159 from the Tripp opinion are attached as Exhibit 5 of the addendum. In the entire text of the Tripp opinion there is no mention of any requirement of written notification, and plaintiff's inclusion and underlining of the

words "written notification" constitute an egregious misstatement of the law, which was relied upon by the trial court.

In fact, research has failed to disclose even one case from any jurisdiction requiring insurance carriers to dispatch written notice in order to terminate temporary insurance contracts. All that is required is that the insured be " . . . notified during his lifetime that his application was rejected." Long, supra, 507 P.2d at 379. More importantly, a requirement of written notice does not square with the ruling of this court in Winger v. Gem State Mutual of Utah, 22 Utah 2d 132, 449 P.2d 982 (1969), where on facts similar to this case, this court absolved the defendant insurer of liability even though the applicant never received Gem State's notification of rejection of the application just prior to his death. The Winger case does not concern itself with what form of notification Gem State pursued, only that the defendant acted with "reasonable dispatch" in attempting to communicate its action. Id. at 983.

Based upon the foregoing, it is apparent that Utah cases and cases from all other jurisdictions follow the rule that "[i]n the absence of a policy requirement of written notice, any communication of an intent to cancel is sufficient and a writing is not required." See 17 Couch on Insurance § 68:140, at 601 (2d Ed. 1983).

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